

Joint Select Committee on Solvency of Multiemployer Pension Plans: Structure, Procedures, and CRS Experts

,name redacted,

Analyst on Congress and the Legislative Process

Updated February 20, 2018

Congressional Research Service

7-.... www.crs.gov R45107

Summary

The Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018 (P.L. 115-123), signed into law on February 9, 2018, creates a new joint select committee of the House and Senate. The Joint Select Committee on Solvency of Multiemployer Pension Plans, made up of 16 Members of the House and Senate—four chosen by each of the chambers' party leaders—is intended to formulate recommendations and legislative language that will "significantly improve the solvency of multiemployer pension plans and the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation." The law directs the joint select committee to, no later than November 30, 2018, vote on a report, which, if approved, is to be submitted along with legislative language to the President, Vice President, the Speaker of the House, and the majority and minority leaders of the House and Senate.

The legislative recommendations of the joint select committee are subject to consideration under expedited procedures in the Senate, which differ slightly from the procedures the Senate normally uses to process most legislation. These procedures are intended to allow the Senate to reach a timely vote on whether to consider legislation embodying the recommendations of the joint select committee. Under the terms of the act, the Senate is directed to vote on a motion to consider any reported joint committee bill before the conclusion of the 115th Congress (2017-2018). The support of at least three-fifths of the Senate would be necessary to take up and approve the measure. The act does not provide any special procedures governing House consideration of such legislation.

This report discusses the structure, powers, and funding of the Joint Select Committee on Solvency of Multiemployer Pension Plans and provides an overview of the parliamentary procedures the chambers may use to consider its work product.

The report includes contact information for CRS policy analysts who work on issues related to the structure and policy work of the panel.

Contents

Membership of the Joint Select Committees	1
Chairmanship	1
Funding and Administration	2
Technical Assistance and Staffing	2
Ethical Standards	2
First Meeting	2
Quorum	3
Hearings	3
Deadlines for Action	3
Report of the Joint Select Committee	3
Consideration of a Joint Committee Bill in the Senate	4
Senate Introduction of Bill	4
Committee Referral of Bill in the Senate	
Senate Committee Consideration	4
Calling Up the Bill on the Senate Floor	5
Senate Floor Consideration of Joint Committee Bill	6
The Senate May Alter the Statutory Procedure	6
Consideration in the House of Representatives	6
Subsequent Action	7
Termination of the Joint Select Committee	7
Experts List	7

Contacts

Author Conta	act Information				8
--------------	-----------------	--	--	--	---

The Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018 (H.R. 1892),¹ signed into law on February 9, 2018, creates a new joint select committee of the House and Senate. The Joint Select Committee on Solvency of Multiemployer Pension Plans, made up of 16 Members of the House and Senate, is directed to formulate recommendations and legislative language that will "significantly improve the solvency of multiemployer pension plans and the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation."²

Under the law, the joint select committee is to, no later than November 30, 2018, vote on a report, which, if approved, must be submitted along with legislative language to the President, the Speaker of the House, and the majority and minority leaders of the House and Senate.³

The legislative recommendations of the joint select committee are to be introduced in the Senate by the majority leader or his designee and are subject to consideration in that chamber under expedited procedures, which differ slightly from the procedures the Senate normally uses to process most legislation. These expedited procedures are intended to allow the Senate to reach a timely vote on whether to consider legislation embodying the recommendations of the joint select committee. Under the terms of the act, the Senate is to vote on a motion to proceed to consider a joint committee bill before the conclusion of the 115th Congress (2017-2018). The support of at least three-fifths of the Senate would be necessary to take up and approve the measure. The act does not provide any special procedures governing House consideration of such legislation.

This report discusses the structure, funding, and powers of this new congressional joint committee and provides an overview of the parliamentary procedures the House and Senate may use to consider its work product.

The report includes contact information for CRS policy analysts who work on policy issues related to the work of the panel.

Membership of the Joint Select Committees

The Joint Select Committee on Solvency of Multiemployer Pension Plans is to be made up of 16 members, with the Speaker, the Senate majority leader, and the House and Senate minority leaders each responsible for appointing four members. All appointments last for the life of the select committee, and any vacancies on the panel are to be filled in within 14 calendar days of their occurrence in the same fashion.⁴

Chairmanship

Two members of the joint select committee are to serve as co-chairs. Within 14 calendar days after the enactment of the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018—that is, by February 23, 2018—the

¹ H.R. 1892, P.L. 115-123. Sections 30441-30444 of the act create a second joint select committee of the House and Senate—the Joint Select Committee on Budget and Appropriations Process Reform. Aside from the committee to which its work product will be referred in the Senate (the Committee on the Budget), the structure and procedures of the two joint select committees are identical.

² Language establishing the joint select committee is found in Title IV, Subtitle A, Sections 30421-30422 of the Senate amendment to H.R. 1892. For background on multiemployer defined benefit pension plans, see CRS Report R43305, *Multiemployer Defined Benefit (DB) Pension Plans: A Primer and Analysis of Policy Options*. For background on the PBGC, see CRS Report 95-118, *Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC): A Primer*.

³ §30422(b)(2)(B).

⁴ §30422(b)(3)(A).

Speaker and the Senate majority leader are to jointly appoint one co-chair, and the chamber minority leaders are to jointly appoint the second co-chair.⁵

Funding and Administration

The act states that there are authorized to be paid not more than \$500,000 from the appropriations account for "Expenses of Inquiries and Investigations" of the Senate, such sums to be disbursed by the Secretary of the Senate, in accordance with Senate rules and procedures, upon vouchers signed by the joint panel's co-chairs. Authorized funds are to be available for obligation during the period beginning on February 9, 2018, the date of enactment of the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, and ending on January 2, 2019.⁶

Technical Assistance and Staffing

The joint select committee may, upon the written request of its co-chairs, receive technical assistance from any federal agency, including legislative branch agencies.⁷

Employees of the legislative branch may be detailed to the joint committee "on a nonreimbursable basis, consistent with the rules and regulations of the Senate."⁸ The joint panel's co-chairs may designate one employee as its staff director.

Ethical Standards

Members of the joint select committee are to comply with the ethics rules and standards of their respective chambers.⁹

First Meeting

The Joint Select Committee on Solvency of Multiemployer Pension Plans is to hold its first meeting no later than 30 calendar days after the enactment of the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018—that is, by March 11, 2018.¹⁰ The co-chairs of the panel are to provide an agenda to committee members at least 48 hours before the meeting.¹¹

⁵ §30422(b)(3)(C).

⁶ §§30422(b)(4)(B) and 30423.

⁷ Legislative branch agencies include the Congressional Budget Office, the Government Accountability Office, and the Congressional Research Service.

⁸ §30422(b)(4)(H).

⁹ §30422(b)(4)(I). For more information on chamber ethics rules, see https://www.ethics.senate.gov/public/index.cfm/ ethicsrules and https://ethics.house.gov/faqs.

¹⁰ Note that March 11 is a Sunday.

¹¹ §30422(b)(4)(E)(i)).

Quorum

Nine members of the joint select committee constitute a quorum for purposes of meeting and voting. A lesser quorum—five members—may hold hearings.¹²

Hearings

The joint committee is authorized to hold hearings, require the attendance of witnesses and the production of documents (it has subpoena power), take testimony, receive evidence, and administer oaths as it considers advisable.¹³ The joint committee is to hold no fewer than five total public hearings or meetings and no fewer than three public hearings, which may include field hearings.¹⁴ An announcement of the date, location, and subject of a hearing is to be made at least seven days in advance, unless the committee co-chairs determine that good cause exists to hold the hearing earlier. (This is the same notice requirement imposed on the standing committees of the House and Senate.) Each co-chair is entitled to select an equal number of witnesses for each hearing. (No such guarantee exists in the standing committees.) Witnesses at the hearing of the joint select committee are to file their written testimony with the panel at least two calendar days before appearing, unless this deadline is waived by the co-chairs for good cause.

Deadlines for Action

The law directs the Joint Select Committee on Solvency of Multiemployer Pension Plans to vote, no later than November 30, 2018, on a report that contains detailed findings, conclusions, and recommendations, as well as proposed legislative language to carry out these recommendations. It further states that, for such a report to be approved, it must be supported by a majority of the joint committee members appointed by the Speaker and majority leader of the Senate and by a majority of joint committee members appointed by the House and Senate minority leaders. Proxy voting is not permitted in the select committee.¹⁵ Not later than the last day of the 115th Congress (2017-2018), the Senate is to vote on a motion to proceed to a bill containing the legislative language recommended by the joint select committee.¹⁶

Report of the Joint Select Committee

The text of the Joint Select Committee on Solvency of Multiemployer Pension Plans report is to be made publicly available in electronic form at least 24 hours before the panel votes to approve it. Any select committee member who, at the time the joint select committee votes to approve its report, gives notice of his or her intention to file supplemental, minority, or additional views in the document will have two calendar days thereafter to do so. All properly noticed views are to be included in the final select committee report.

¹⁶ §30424(c)(5).

^{12 §30422(}b)(4)(E)(ii).

^{13 §30422(}b)(4)(F).

^{14 §30422(}b)(4)(G).

¹⁵ All Senate standing committees permit proxy voting under at least some circumstances. For more information, see CRS Report RS22952, *Proxy Voting and Polling in Senate Committee*, by (name redacted)

After being approved by the requisite majorities, the joint committee is to, within 15 calendar days, submit its report along with legislative language to the President, the Vice President, the Speaker of the House, and the majority and minority leaders of the House and Senate. The joint select committee must also make its full report, the accompanying legislative language, and a record of votes taken available to the public "promptly."¹⁷

Consideration of a Joint Committee Bill in the Senate

The Bipartisan Budget Act establishes certain unique procedures for Senate consideration of any legislative language reported by the Joint Select Committee on Solvency of Multiemployer Pension Plans. These procedures are intended to allow the Senate to reach a timely vote on whether to consider legislation embodying the recommendations of the joint select committee. The act does not provide any special procedures governing consideration of the bill once the Senate has agreed to take it up. The act also does not provide any special procedures governing House consideration of such legislation.

Senate Introduction of Bill

When the Joint Select Committee on Solvency of Multiemployer Pension Plans has reported legislative language, and that language has been received, it is to be introduced in the Senate "by request" on the next day of session by the Senate majority leader or his designee. The term *by request* is used to indicate that the leader is introducing the bill as a ministerial act and may or may not support its provisions.¹⁸

Committee Referral of Bill in the Senate

A bill containing the legislative language reported by the Joint Select Committee on Solvency of Multiemployer Pension Plans introduced in the Senate is to be referred "jointly" to the Senate Committee on Finance and the Committee on Health, Education, Labor, and Pensions (HELP).¹⁹ *Joint referral* means that each committee has the entire bill at the same time, and each is free to act on it in any order.

Senate Committee Consideration

With certain exceptions, Congress generally does not mandate that a committee act within a specified time frame or at all on a bill referred to it. The Bipartisan Budget Act procedure, however, places a deadline by which the Finance and the HELP Committees must act, and it creates a mechanism to "discharge" (that is, remove) the joint committee bill from the committees if they do not. These expediting provisions are intended to prevent a joint committee bill from being long delayed or blocked outright in Senate committee.

The committees that are referred a bill representing the legislative language reported by the joint select committee are to report the bill to the Senate without any revision no later than seven Senate session days after introduction. (A session day is any calendar day on which the Senate

¹⁷ §30422(b)(2)(B)(v).

^{18 §30424(}a).

^{19 §30424(}b).

meets, including in *pro forma* session.) The committees may report the bill to the Senate with a favorable or unfavorable recommendation or without recommendation. They may not, however, report amendments to the bill.

If a committee in possession of a joint select committee bill does not report by this deadline, it will be automatically discharged—that is, the bill will be taken away from them. Whether the committees have reported or been discharged, the bill is to be placed on the Senate Calendar of Business and be eligible for consideration in the full Senate.

Calling Up the Bill on the Senate Floor

As noted above, the law directs the Senate to vote on a motion to proceed to a bill containing the legislative language recommended by the Joint Select Committee on Solvency of Multiemployer Pension Plans no later than the last day of the 115th Congress (2017-2018).

No later than two days of Senate session after a joint committee bill has been reported or discharged from the Finance and the HELP Committees, the majority leader or his designee may move to proceed to consider it.²⁰ It is important to note that the act defines a "joint committee bill" as including a bill of the House of Representatives that is a companion measure to the measure introduced in the Senate.²¹ As such, the majority leader or his designee may move to call up the Senate bill or instead may call up a House-passed measure pending on the Senate calendar. In the case of the work product of the Joint Select Committee on Solvency of Multiemployer Pension Plans, it seems possible—perhaps likely—that the House of Representatives would consider such a bill a revenue measure, which, under the Constitution, must originate in that chamber.²² As such, it is arguably likely that full Senate action will proceed on a House-passed measure. If the leader or his designee does not move to the bill within two session days, any Senator may move to call it up on the floor.²³

The motion to consider a joint committee bill—and all debatable motions and appeals in connection with the motion—shall be considered for a maximum of 10 hours, evenly divided between the Senate floor leaders or their designees. Since the total time for consideration is limited, time spent in quorum calls or votes would count against the 10-hour total.²⁴

An optional nondebatable motion to limit debate to less than 10 hours is in order. This motion requires a vote of three-fifths of all Senators—60 votes if there is not more than one vacancy in the body—to pass. The act precludes motions that might otherwise be made in the Senate to postpone the motion to proceed or to reconsider a vote on it.²⁵ Because the time is controlled, either side could also yield back some or all of their allocation of time unused.

Passage of the motion to proceed itself also requires the affirmative vote of three-fifths of all Senators (60 votes), the same threshold necessary to invoke cloture in the Senate.²⁶ Thus, while the motion to proceed to a joint committee bill could not be filibustered, it still requires the same level of support to pass that would be necessary to shut off debate (i.e., invoke cloture) on a

²⁴ Under the practices of the Senate, time expended in quorum calls is usually charged equally to both sides.

²⁵ §30424(c)(4).

26 §30424(c)(3).

²⁰ §30424(c)(1).

²¹ §30424(c)(6).

²² For more information see CRS Report RL31399, *The Origination Clause of the U.S. Constitution: Interpretation and Enforcement*, by (name redacted).

^{23 §30424(}c)(1).

regular, debatable motion to proceed. These procedures of the act shorten the time that would otherwise be necessary for the Senate to invoke cloture, however, since the Senate would ordinarily have to wait two session days before voting on cloture and then, if cloture were invoked, expend up to 30 additional hours in postcloture consideration before voting on a motion to proceed.

Senate Floor Consideration of Joint Committee Bill

Significantly, all points of order in the Senate against the motion to proceed are waived. Once pending, however, such a measure is to be otherwise considered under the regular rules of the Senate. Said another way, if the Senate chooses to take it up, the joint committee bill is to be fully debatable and fully amendable, including by nongermane amendment, and one or more cloture processes (requiring the support of 60 Senators) might be necessary to reach a final vote on it.²⁷

The Senate May Alter the Statutory Procedure

The fact that an expedited parliamentary procedure is contained in statute does not mean that another law must be enacted to alter it. Article I, Section 5, of the Constitution gives each chamber of Congress the power to determine the rules of its proceedings. As a result, statutory expedited procedures such as those governing Senate consideration of a joint committee bill (like all rules of the House or Senate) can be set aside, altered, or amended by either chamber at any time. As several House Parliamentarians have observed, a chamber may "change or waive the rules governing its proceedings. This is so even with respect to rules enacted by statute."²⁸

In a sense, then, the expedited procedures in the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018 governing Senate consideration of a joint committee bill establish a default set of parliamentary ground rules. Senators can tailor these provisions to meet specific situations or for their convenience.

It is worth noting, however, that, while the Senate has the constitutional power to alter the application of the expedited procedures in their body, doing so may be difficult in practice. In the Senate, overriding the default terms of consideration laid out in the act would effectively require unanimous consent, as setting the terms of consideration in the Senate cannot be accomplished by a numerical majority.

Consideration in the House of Representatives

As is noted above, the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018 does not provide any special procedures for House consideration of a Joint Committee on Solvency of Multiemployer Pension Plans of either chamber. Such a measure would likely come to the House floor under the terms of a special rule reported by the House Committee on Rules and agreed to by the House, the same mechanism the House uses to process most major legislation.²⁹

 ²⁷ For more information on cloture, see CRS Report 98-425, *Invoking Cloture in the Senate*, by (name redacted)
²⁸ William Holmes Brown, Charles W. Johnson, and John V. Sullivan, *House Practice, A Guide to the Rules*,

Precedents, and Procedures of the House (Washington: GPO, 2011), ch. 50, §4, p. 840.

²⁹ For more information, see CRS Report 98-354, *How Special Rules Regulate Calling up Measures for Consideration in the House*, by (name redacted).

Subsequent Action

The act contains no special parliamentary provisions governing the resolving of differences between the House and Senate in the event the chambers agree to different versions of a bill.³⁰ The act also does not expedite House and Senate consideration of a veto message from the President. Such actions would occur under the regular procedures of each body.³¹ As such, the chambers cannot be guaranteed that they will reach a final vote on a package that can be presented to the President for his consideration.

Termination of the Joint Select Committee

The Joint Select Committee on Solvency of Multiemployer Pension Plans is scheduled to terminate on December 31, 2018, or 30 days after submission of their respective report and legislative recommendations, whichever comes first.³²

Experts List

Legislative Issues	Name/Title			
Joint Committee Structure, Powers, and Congressional procedures				
Senate committee and floor procedures	name redacted Analyst on Congress and the Legislative Process			
Senate committee and floor procedures	name redacted Specialist on Congress and the Legislative Process			
Senate committee and floor procedures	name redacted Specialist on Congress and the Legislative Process			
Joint Committee Staffing and Funding				
Staffing and funding	name redacted Specialist on the Congress			
Staffing and funding	name redacted Specialist in American National Government			
Pension Funding and the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation (PBGC)				
Pension funding, PBGC	name redacted Specialist in Income Security			
Pension funding, PBGC	name redacted Legislative Attorney			
Pension funding, PBGC	name redacted Legislative Attorney			

³⁰ For more information, see CRS Report 98-696, *Resolving Legislative Differences in Congress: Conference Committees and Amendments Between the Houses*, by (name redacted) .

³¹ For more information, see CRS Report RS22654, *Veto Override Procedure in the House and Senate*, by (name reda cted) .

³² §30422(d).

Author Contact Information

(name redacted) Analyst on Congress and the Legislative Process /redacted/@crs.loc.gov7-....

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted names, phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.